Advisory Committee Handbook for Career and Technical Education Local Administrators



From Competence to Excellence

Virginia Department of Education Office of Career and Technical Education Commonwealth of Virginia

January 2007

Table of Contents

Preface	
Acknowledgments	3
Virginia Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education, 2006–2007	5
History	
Purpose	3
Types of Advisory Committees	
Advisory Committee Organizational Chart	
Roles of a General Advisory Committee	10
Functions of Advisory Committees	10
Specific Activities of Advisory Committees	11
Composition of Advisory Committees	14
Criteria for Committee Members	15
Selection of Committee Members	15
Length of Membership	15
Responsibilities of Advisory Committee Members	15
Accountability of the General Advisory Committee	16
Recognition of Outstanding Advisory Committee Members	16
Advisory Committee Officers	17
Bylaws and Meetings	17
Appendices	19-2
References	23
D	25

Preface

The Advisory Committee Handbook for Career and Technical Education Local Administrators has been updated to assist you in your role as a local administrator of career and technical education and to inform advisory committee members of their responsibilities.

The Virginia Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education believes that effective interaction of professional educators and citizens of the community strengthens educational programs across the state. Public education increases its contribution to the community when a mix of citizens and professionals participate in planning and evaluation of instructional programs.

We thank you for your time and expertise and hope this publication will be helpful to you.

Caroline Martin, Chair 2003–3005 Daisy Stewart, Chair 2005–present Virginia Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education

Acknowledgments

The Virginia Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education wishes to extend its appreciation to those who assisted in developing the *Advisory Committee Handbook for Career and Technical Education Local Administrators*.

Special thanks go to the staff in the Office of Career and Technical Education Services of the Virginia Department of Education, who supported the development of this publication.

The handbook was edited, designed, and produced by the CTE Resource Center, a grant project of the Virginia Department of Education administered by Henrico County Public Schools, Department of Career and Technical Education:

Margaret L. Watson, Administrative Coordinator

Anita T. Cruikshank, Writer/Editor

Laura J. Beaton, Writer/Editor

Virginia Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education 2006–2007

Mr. Craig Balzer Principal

July 1, 04 – June 30, 08 Balzer and Associates, Inc.

Mr. John C. Barnes, **III** Vice President, Pallet Division *October 1,06 – September 29,09* Potomac Supply Corporation

Ms. Theresa Bryant Vice President

July 1, 06 – June 30, 09 Workforce Development

Tidewater Community College

Ms. Tracee B. Carmean Vice President

October 1,06 - September 29,09 Riverside Health System, Riverside School of Health Careers

Mr. Johnny Cates Executive Director AYES Program *July 1, 06 – June 30, 09* Virginia Auto Dealers Association

Mr. Franklin D. Harris Manager of Public and Member Relations

July 1, 06 – June 30, 09 Southside Electric Cooperative

Mr. Parker Johnson School Board Member

July 1, 05 – June 30, 08 Accomack County Public Schools

Dr. Brenda D. Long Representative

July 1, 05 – June 30, 08 Virginia Association for Career and Technical Education

Data Specialist

Commonwealth Scholars Initiative

Mr. Mike Mills Corporate Distribution Manager
Vice-chair American Woodmark Corporation

July 1, 04 - June 30, 07

Mr. Toney Rigali Lead Organizer

July 1, 04 – June 30, 07 Virginia Pipe Trades Association

Ms. Judy Sorrell Director

July 1, 04 – June 30, 07 Shenandoah Valley Regional Program

Dr. Daisy Stewart Program Leader

Chair Career and Technical Education

July 1, 05 – June 30, 08 College of Liberal Arts and Human Sciences, Virginia Tech

Mr. Ray Tate President and CEO

July 1, 05 – June 30, 08 Old Dominion Glass Company

History

In the early twentieth century, vocational educators began to fear that the growth of vocational programs was threatened by local school officials with academic backgrounds. The U.S. Congress responded to this concern by passing the Smith-Hughes Act in 1917. The act encouraged the use of citizen advisory groups to assist in planning and evaluating vocational programs and to establish a communication link between schools and communities.

By the late 1940s, state supervisory personnel and vocational teacher educators began to endorse the concept of using local advisory committees. Because the establishment of the committee was the responsibility of the individual teacher, some communities had advisory committees and some did not. For the next 40 years, vocational education teachers at the secondary, postsecondary, and adult level used local advisory groups with varying degrees of effectiveness.

The emergence of vocational-technical education centers and community colleges in the mid-1960s made the use of general vocational advisory committees a common practice. Since then, involvement of local advisory groups has become a tradition in Virginia.

Federal legislation encouraged citizen involvement in the planning stages of vocational education in the 1960s and 1970s. The Vocational Education Act of 1963 established the National Advisory Council for Vocational Education, and the 1968 amendments included the first legal mandate calling for the formation of state advisory councils. The Education Amendments of 1976 emphasized greater involvement than in the past of national and state councils and called specifically for advisory councils at the local level.

On July 1, 2002, the new *Regulations Governing Career and Technical Education (CTE) in Virginia* went into effect. Part II, Section 3 (8VAC20-120-50) of the regulations requires that each local education agency or region "shall establish a general career and technical education advisory council to provide recommendations to the local education agency (or board) on current job needs and relevancy of career and technical education programs and to assist in the development, implementation, and evaluation of the local plan and application." It further states the following:

- The council shall be composed of members of the public, including students, teachers, parents, and representatives from business, industry, and labor, with appropriate representation of both sexes and racial and ethnic minorities found in the school, community, or region served by the council; and
- That the council shall meet at regular intervals during the year to assist in planning, implementing, and assessing career and technical education programs.

Purpose

The purpose of a local advisory committee is to help schools and school divisions improve the quality of instruction in their career and technical education programs that prepare students with workplace skills. An advisory committee is essential to local CTE administrators as they establish and operate an up-to-date CTE program. Seeking the advice of community business and industry leaders who have firsthand information concerning current business trends, technological demands, and realistic job requirements creates effective communication lines between education and the world of work. This communication system enables CTE students to receive instruction based on input from people who have practical, everyday occupational knowledge of the skills needed in the workplace.

CTE programs based on current, real occupational skills facilitate the transition of students from school to work. For this reason, the advisory committee should focus consistently on innovative, quality instruction using best practices. Additionally, the advisory committee can assist in making the best use of resources by being responsive to social, economic, and cultural changes.

Committee involvement and presence in local activities will encourage high performance by students, faculty, and staff in an atmosphere of mutual respect and enthusiasm. Strong advisory committees help promote a positive image of the school division to the general public as well as among the division's staff and students.

Types of Advisory Committees

General advisory committees form a link between a school division and the community (see diagram on page 9). Made up of recognized experts in their respective fields, the committee identifies for the school district current and future business, industry, and community needs. For the community, the committee identifies CTE scope, direction, and current and future program needs.

In many cases, representatives of occupational advisory committees serve on the general advisory committee to provide continuity between programs and schools.

Occupational advisory committees (sometimes called craft committees) form a link between one school or multiple schools within a school division and experts in a particular career field, such as masonry or graphic imaging technology. Occupational advisory committees help teachers ensure that instruction is current and that the program has sufficient resources.

State Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education

School Division Level

Local General Advisory Committee for Career and Technical Education

Program/Course/School Level **Occupational Advisory** Occupational Advisory Committee/Craft Committee/Craft Committee Committee Occupational Advisory **Occupational Advisory** Committee/Craft Committee/Craft Committee Committee **Occupational Advisory Occupational Advisory** Committee/Craft Committee/Craft Committee Committee Occupational Advisory Occupational Advisory Committee/Craft Committee/Craft **Committee** Committee Occupational Advisory **Occupational Advisory** Committee/Craft Committee/Craft Committee Committee

Roles of a General Advisory Committee

Local general advisory committees serve three main roles: to **advise**, **assist**, and **provide support and advocacy** to career and technical education.

- The advisory committee advises educators on the many facets of CTE programs. It assesses specific areas of CTE and formulates suggestions and recommendations designed to create or improve the instructional programs.
 - The committee establishes a two-way system of communication, informing the school of the needs of business and industry and informing business and industry of the services the school can provide.
 - Examples of recommendations include suggestions for new, innovative CTE programs that meet current needs of local business and industry, modification of curriculum content, purchase of new instructional materials or high-tech equipment, and adoption of a new safety policy.
- ◆ In its assisting role, the committee members contribute to carrying out specific activities. Examples include judging competitive skill events, establishing a scholarship program for teachers and/or students, and obtaining media coverage for special events. An advisory committee also helps in whatever ways possible to make CTE programs operate efficiently and effectively to meet the needs of both business/industry and students.
- ◆ In its support/advocacy role, the committee promotes CTE programs throughout the community. Advocacy efforts include influencing local and state legislators on behalf of CTE, showing support for CTE programs at local school board meetings, and raising awareness of CTE programs and students in these programs among community businesses and industries.

Research shows that successful CTE programs have a strong general advisory committee that actively advises the local school division. The advisory committee has no administrative authority and is not created to usurp the authority of local boards of education and administrative staff; it serves strictly in an advisory capacity.

Functions of Advisory Committees

The functions of a **general advisory committee** include, but are not limited to, the following systemwide activities:

- ◆ Advise on current and projected workforce needs that are most relevant to the local economy.
- ♦ Review and sign off on the local school division's annual CTE plan.
- ◆ Suggest course content and program development.
- Build support from the business community for the school system and CTE specific programs.
- ◆ Make recommendations on equipment, instructional materials, and specifications for training areas.

- ◆ Promote public relations and publicity for CTE programs.
- Assist in placement of students in cooperative education programs and in employment.
- Make suggestions on work-based projects to enhance occupational objectives.
- Review CTE program budget items, such as instructional materials and equipment.
- Support student organization activities at the local, regional, state, and national levels.
- ◆ Serve as liaison with businesses that can provide craft committee volunteers when applicable.
- ◆ Provide support for the school with the school board, state legislature, and other policy-making bodies.
- Facilitate equipment donations or loans.
- ◆ Identify businesspeople who can serve as mentors or role models for students.
- ♦ Help locate qualified instructors.
- ♦ Help update training for instructors by employing them part-time or simply keeping communication lines open between the occupational areas and the instructors.

The functions of an **occupational or craft committee** include, but are not limited to, the following program-specific activities:

- Help keep the curriculum updated.
- ♦ Help keep equipment updated.
- ♦ Help place students, sometimes employing them in part-time or full-time positions.
- ♦ Help obtain supplies.
- ♦ Help keep the instructor updated, such as through job shadowing or part-time employment.
- ◆ Provide support for the program in the community.

Specific Activities of Advisory Committees

Once the committee has identified its functions, its discussions should become more specific in terms of exactly what the committee wants to accomplish. As the committee plans its program of work, it may want to consider the following activities:

Public Relation Activities

- Promote community awareness of CTE programs through media coverage and marketing efforts.
- ◆ Make formal presentations on CTE programs and activities to civic and service groups.
- ◆ Establish scholarships and financial aid programs for deserving students.

- ♦ Establish scholarships for deserving teachers who wish to further their education and training.
- Establish awards programs to recognize outstanding students, teachers, administrators, and community leaders.
- ♦ Make presentations to curriculum committees and school boards.

Curriculum Activities

- ◆ Review curriculum to ensure basic skills content.
- ◆ Review curriculum materials for up-to-date content.
- ◆ Provide classroom speakers from business and industry.
- ◆ Recommend and/or provide tours and field trip experiences.
- ◆ Assist instructors in obtaining instructional supplies and equipment.
- ◆ Assist in securing adequate funding of CTE programs.
- Recommend realistic safety policies.
- ◆ Recommend instructional materials, equipment, and facilities for serving specialized training needs.

Community Resource Activities

- ◆ Identify community resource people.
- ◆ Recommend tours and field trip experiences.
- ♦ Recommend speakers.

Recruitment Activities

- ♦ Assist in reviewing teacher selection criteria.
- ◆ Assist in recruiting new staff.
- ◆ Assist in recruiting students for adult CTE programs.

Student Organization Activities

- ◆ Judge competitive skill events.
- ◆ Sponsor student organization activities.
- ◆ Sponsor or collect contributions of equipment and supplies for skill events.
- Arrange for display space to promote student organizations and special events.

Job Placement Activities

- Organize employer/student conferences.
- ◆ Notify teachers of job openings for students.

- ◆ Provide students with cooperative training sites.
- Promote development of additional cooperative training sites with other employers.
- ◆ Assist students in developing interviewing skills.
- ◆ Recommend employability skills curriculum content.

Staff Development Activities

- Provide in-service activities on current methods and processes for instructors.
- ◆ Provide skilled technicians to supplement teachers' experience.
- ◆ Support participation of instructors in technical workshops or factory schools.

Program Review and Evaluation Activities

- ♦ Review program goals and objectives.
- Participate on program-evaluation teams.
- ♦ Compare program accomplishments with program objectives.
- ◆ Compare student performance standards to business/industry standards.
- ◆ Review adequacy of a facility as a training site.
- ◆ Evaluate quality and quantity of graduates and job placement.
- ♦ Make recommendations for program improvement.
- ◆ Give periodic reports to administration and/or school boards.

Legislative Activities

- ◆ Provide tours for legislators through CTE classrooms and facilities.
- ◆ Communicate with legislators about CTE needs.
- ◆ Gather information on new legislation.
- ◆ Promote legislative support for CTE.

This list of activities is not all-inclusive and should be viewed as possible activities for consideration. Again, the functions and activities should match the needs of the program and community.

Composition of Advisory Committees

A general advisory committee should be composed of seven or more people who by position, background experience, or training can contribute to the improvement of CTE programs. The majority of members should include

- supervisory and non-supervisory workers currently employed in a business/industry directly related to programs offered at the division level
- ♦ representatives of labor unions, trade associations, or professional organizations
- ◆ a representative of special populations
- ◆ a representative of postsecondary programs
- ♦ a representative of career and technical education teachers.

Additional members may include

- ◆ former students with at least three years of on-the-job experience related to the specific program
- ♦ parents of current or former students enrolled in CTE programs
- ♦ a current president of a student organization.

An occupational or craft committee should be composed of business, industry, and/or labor representatives who have occupational background in, working knowledge of, or involvement with a specific CTE program within a school.

To provide effective communication between those involved in the CTE programs and members of the community, local advisory committee membership must represent a cross-section of the community, including representatives of

- ♦ all geographical sections of the school division or region being served
- ♦ all types and sizes of business and industry in the area
- ♦ both labor and management
- ◆ economic development organizations or the local chamber of commerce
- regional employment and training agencies
- ♦ various age groups
- various educational levels
- ♦ both sexes, handicapped individuals, and racial and ethnic minorities.

This representation will ensure the school division is serving all points of view within the community.

For both the general advisory committee and the occupational or craft committee, a CTE administrator should serve as an ex officio member of the committee. This person cannot serve as chair or serve in any other appointed position on the advisory committee.

Criteria for Committee Members

- ◆ **Experience**: Committee members should have firsthand business and industry experiences in one or more of the school division's CTE programs of study. They should be recognized as leaders in their profession.
- ◆ Adequate Time: An advisory committee should meet as frequently as necessary (minimum of two to three times a year). Potential members must commit to the time needed to provide strong support for local CTE programs.

Selection of Committee Members

- ◆ The instructor(s) in each program area, current committee members, and local administrators should make recommendations for membership to the advisory committee.
- ♦ The advisory committee chair should submit nominees to the local school board annually.
- The local school board should annually appoint members.

Length of Membership

- ♦ The term of committee members should be three years with staggered termination dates to allow for continuity. Provisions to ensure that there will always be experienced members serving on the committee are critical.
- Members may be recommended for reappointment after completing their membership term.

Responsibilities of Advisory Committee Members

Each advisory committee member is expected to

- attend meetings regularly, participate in the committee discussions, and serve on subcommittees when asked
- review and advise the local school division on current labor market needs, employment projections, and program offerings
- ♦ keep the CTE administrator and instructor(s) informed of new industry developments
- ◆ assist with student leadership activities in cooperation with student organizations
- advise on the relevance of CTE program offerings as related to current workforce needs
- ♦ advise on the development, operation, and evaluation of the CTE program

- ♦ assist the school division in planning activities to promote CTE programs
- ♦ assist with developing the local CTE plan, presenting the plan to the local school board, and signing off on the approved plan for submission to the Virginia Department of Education.

Accountability of the General Advisory Committee

The general advisory committee should submit a written report annually to the local school board. This report should include specific recommendations, action taken and to be taken, and business/industry and labor trends that may have an effect on curriculum development and the delivery of CTE programs and services.

Recognition of Outstanding Advisory Committee Members

Recognition is especially important to local advisory committees because members are not paid for their efforts. Rewards should not be given indiscriminately but should be based on actual contributions to the committee's activity. The best types of rewards or recognition are those that can increase productivity, improve committee interaction, and increase member satisfaction. A prestigious recognition program can encourage committee attendance and involvement and attract the interest of other qualified people who may someday serve the organization.

CTE leaders may wish to recognize committee members in any number of ways, including the following:

- ♦ Issue press releases announcing appointments to the committee.
- ◆ Report at meetings on the results of adopting committee recommendations and the ways in which committee members have been of service.
- ◆ Invite members to visit programs to see the actual results of their recommendations.
- ◆ Invite members to attend special CTE events.
- ◆ Introduce advisory committee members at CTE meetings or events.
- ◆ Send personal letters to committee members about the results of their advice and recommendations.
- ◆ Send each member a letter of thanks and appreciation, signed by the appropriate school officials, at the end of the school year.
- ◆ Send a letter of appreciation to the advisory committee member's supervisor and/or company, affirming the good job being done by the member and thanking the company for its support.
- ◆ Hold a banquet in honor of the committee, and present a certificate of service to each member.
- ♦ Have the chief administrator of the school or institution attend a committee meeting in order to express his/her appreciation for the members' work.

- ◆ Place members' names on a display board or plaque at the school or institution. Be sure that announcements and reports made by administrators about the program include references to the committee members.
- Involve all members in developing the program of work for the year.
- ◆ Send a personal note in recognition of special events, such as birthdays, anniversaries, and job promotions. Include your thanks for the member's work on the committee.

Advisory Committee Officers

An advisory committee should elect officers as established in its bylaws or standing rules. Committee bylaws or standing rules should also define terms of office and the duties of each officer.

Chair: The chair is a representative from business and industry elected by majority vote of the committee members. The chair should be sensitive to the views of the members, be able to listen critically, be reasonable, exercise good judgment and fairness, and be able to work closely with the instructor(s). The committee should elect a chair at its first meeting to serve during the current school year. The responsibilities of the chair include planning and setting the meeting agenda and presiding over all meetings.

Vice-Chair: The vice-chair, also a business and industry representative elected by majority vote of the committee members, works closely with the chair on all tasks and presides in the absence of the chair. The vice-chair serves as chair-elect for one term prior to his/her automatic nomination for chair for the next term.

Secretary: The secretary is responsible for taking the minutes of each formal meeting and submitting them to committee members and the instructor(s). This person, selected by the committee members, may be a committee member, an ex officio member of the committee, or a school division staff person.

Bylaws and Meetings

Committee members are experienced business, industry, and labor representatives who are serving voluntarily, and they must feel their time is spent wisely. Bylaws (see Appendix B) are one way to ensure that each meeting is conducted in an effective and orderly manner. The bylaws will define how the committee organizes itself, selects its officers, establishes subcommittees, selects place and time for meetings, formulates programs, and prepares meeting agendas. Regularly scheduled meetings are important.

All advisory committees will meet a minimum of twice a year in formal, minute-recorded sessions. One meeting should be prior to November 1, and the second meeting should be in March to allow for local plan approval and presentation to the school board. Other meetings may be scheduled at the discretion of the instructor(s) and chair of the committee.

Appendix A

Sample Letter of Agreement

Dear	:		
	·	*	rm you of your appointment to y Committee. Thank you for your
willingness to se	rve on this committee.		
programs possib		our active participation an	e to ensure the most up-to-date CTE d interest in the committee's work
committee meet committee and i	ing. At this meeting, the co ts members. You will have acials, and the school admin		
Again, thank you	-		se contactat
any questions. W	=		(email address) if you have advisory committee members.
		Sincerely,	
		(signed by the chair o	f the
		school board or an ad	lministrator)
(Acceptance forn	n to be returned)		

Appendix B

Advisory Committee Bylaws (Suggested outline)

I.	Nam	ne
II.	Area	Served
III.	Men	nbership
	A.	Number of Members
	B.	Term of Membership
	C.	Appointment of Members
	D.	Ex-Officio Members
IV.	Purp	ose and Responsibilities
	A.	Purpose of Committee
	B.	Responsibilities
V.	Orgá	nnization
	A.	Officers
	B.	Term of Officers
	C.	Minutes
VI.	Polic	cies and Procedures
VII.	Mee	tings
	A.	Regular Meetings
	B.	Special Meetings
	С.	Quorum
	D.	Agenda

Subcommittees

VIII.

Appendix C

Advisory Committee Chair's Guide for Conducting an Advisory Committee Meeting

Agenda

(Date)

1. Call to Order Welcome and opening remarks by school personnel

2. Secretary's Minutes Minutes of last meeting; approved/corrected by

vote

3. Introductions Introduction and biographical information about

committee members and/or guests

Introduction and biographical information about

instructor(s)

4. Old Business Brief summary of old business items

5. Special Reports Recognition of individual(s) presenting report(s)

6. New Business Review, discussion, and vote on each item

7. Plans for Next Meeting Discussion on date and time for future meetings,

subcommittees, etc.

8. Other Items Announcements, etc.

9. Adjournment

References

Portions of this booklet are based on information adapted from the following sources:

- ◆ The Oklahoma Department of Vocational and Technical Education and the Metro Tech Area Vocational-Technical Center of Oklahoma.
- ◆ The National Center for Research in Vocational Education at Ohio State University.
- ◆ Advisory Committee Handbook for Administrators of Career and Technical Education, Commonwealth of Virginia, 2002.
- ◆ Advisory Committee Handbook for Career and Technical Education, Alexandria City Public Schools, Alexandria, Virginia, 2003.
- ◆ Local Advisory Councils for Vocational/Technical Education, Organization and Structure: Leadership Guide, Montana Office of Public Instruction, Career, Technical, and Adult Education Division.

Web Resources on CTE Local Advisory Committees

Research

Effective Advisory Committees
In Brief: Fast Facts for Policy and Practice No. 17
Sandra Kerka, National Centers for Career and Technical Education, 2002.
http://www.nccte.org/publications/infosynthesis/in-brief/in-brief17/index.asp

State and Local Secondary Handbooks

Career and Technical Education Advisory Committee Guide
Massachusetts Career and Technical Education Curriculum Resource Center, 2003.
http://www.doe.mass.edu/cte/resources/acguide.pdf

Handbook for Advisory Groups in Career and Technology Education South Carolina Department of Education, 2000. http://ed.sc.gov/agency/offices/cate/advisory_committee/handbook.pdf

Functions of an Advisory Committee
Arkansas Department of Workforce Education, 2004.
http://wetest.k12.ar.us/Advisory%20Committee%20Manual%20Completed%207-24-06.doc

Functions of an Advisory Committee

Kansas State Department of Education.

http://www.kcterc.org/LinkClick.aspx?link=Publications/FunctionsAdvComm4.pdf&tabid=56

Forms and Guidelines: Program Advisory Committee Guide North Dakota Department of Career and Technical Education, 2006. http://www.nd.gov/cte/forms/guide.html

Local Advisory Councils for Vocational/Technical Education. Organization and Structure: Leadership Guide Montana, [no date].

http://www.opi.mt.gov/PDF/CTE/MTAdvLeadGuide.pdf

Establishing and Operating Effective Occupational Advisory Committees

Pennsylvania Department of Education, Bureau of Career and Technical Education.

http://www.pde.state.pa.us/career_edu/lib/career_edu/Occ_Adv_Manual.pdf

Developing a Local Advisory Committee: Resource Handbook
Nebraska Career and Technical Education. Nebraska Department of Education.
http://www.nde.state.ne.us/nce/Manuals_Booklets/AdvisoryHandbook.pdf

Career and Technical Education Advisory Board Manual
Seattle Public Schools, 2006.
http://www.seattleschools.org/area/cte/advisoryboard.xml

CTEAC Advisory Handbook

Career, Technical and Adult/Community Education Department, Broward County, FL, 2003. http://www.broward.k12.fl.us/ctace/Advisory/Preface.htm

State and Local Postsecondary Handbooks

A Guide to the Operation of Career & Technical Education Advisory Committees Community Colleges of Colorado System. Revised. Denver: CCCS, 2003. http://www.cccs.edu/Docs/CTE/AdvisoryCommitteeGuide_10-03.pdf

Advisory Council Handbook
Lane Community College, Eugene, OR, 2003.
http://www.lanecc.edu/presoffc/committee/advishndbk02.pdf

Industry-Produced Handbooks

Advisory Committee Information [Handbook]
National Automotive Technicians Education Foundation, Leesburg, Virginia, [no date].
http://www.natef.org/advisory-Committee.cfm

Notice to the Reader

In accordance with the requirements of the Civil Rights Act and other federal and state laws and regulations, this document has been reviewed to ensure that it does not reflect stereotypes based on sex, race, or national origin.

The Virginia Department of Education does not unlawfully discriminate on the basis of sex, race, color, religion, handicapping conditions, or national origin in employment or in its educational programs and activities.

The activity that is the subject of this report was supported in whole or in part by the U.S. Department of Education. However, the opinions expressed herein do not necessarily reflect the position or policy of the U.S. Department of Education, and no official endorsement by the U.S. Department of Education should be inferred.